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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA
Case No. 1:17-cv-20114-KMM
Natacha Guerra, individually and
on behalf of all others similarly situated,
Plaintiff,
v.
Harvey Ruvin, in his capacity as Clerk
of the Courts of Miami-Dade County, Florida;
and Linebarger Goggan Blair & Sampson, LLP
Defendants.
/
ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANTS’ MOTIONS TO DISMISS COMPLAINT
THIS CAUSE came before the Court upon Defendant Harvey Ruvin’s Motion to Dismiss (ECF
No. 33) (hereinafter, “Ruvin’s Motion”) and Defendant Linebarger Goggan Blair & Sampson, LLP’s
Motion to Dismiss (ECF No. 32) (hereinafter “Linebarger’s Motion”). Both motions are fully briefed
and now ripe for review. For the reasons that follow, both motions to dismiss are GRANTED.
I.

BACKGROUND1
This is a putative class action challenging the assessment and collection of a fee. Plaintiff sues

Defendants Linebarger Goggan Blair & Sampson, LLP (“Linebarger” or the “Firm”) and Harvey
Ruvin, in his capacity as Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and
for Miami-Dade County, Florida (“Ruvin” or the “Clerk”).2

1

The following background facts are taken from Plaintiff’s Complaint (ECF No. 1) (“Compl.”) and are
accepted as true for purposes of ruling on a Motion to Dismiss. See SEC v. ESM Group. Inc., 835 F.2d
270, 272 (11th Cir. 1988), cert. denied sub nom. Peat Marwick Main & Co. Tew, 486 U.S 1055 (1988).
2

This “action is brought against Harvey Ruvin in his official capacity only and not in his personal
capacity.” Compl. ¶ 9.
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A. The Clerk and the Firm’s Arrangement
Ruvin is the duly elected Clerk of the Courts for Miami-Dade County pursuant to Article V,
Section 16 of the Florida Constitution and is a County officer pursuant to Article VIII, Section 1(d) of
the Florida Constitution. Compl. ¶ 9. Since on or around July 1, 2004, Ruvin, as the Clerk of the
Courts for Miami-Dade County, has charged and collected a “Collection Fee” from persons paying
certain fines late under the authority of Florida Statute Section 28.246(6). Id. ¶ 24. The Collection Fee
amounts to 40% of the sum owed prior to the imposition of the fee. Id.
In 2011, Ruvin—as the Miami-Dade County Clerk of Courts, “a political subdivision of the
State of Florida”—executed a contract with Linebarger, a private law firm based in Texas. Id. ¶¶ 1, 8,
18; Ex. A to Compl. (ECF No. 1-4) (hereinafter, the “Contract”) at 1. The Contract explains that the
“Clerk is responsible for the collection of fines, charges and costs assessed, from an individual or
entity . . . that owes the Clerk monies that are considered past due.” See Contract at 24. Pursuant to the
Contract, the Clerk selected Linebarger to pursue debt collection on delinquent accounts that remain
unpaid for 90 days or more. See id.
Under the Contact, Linebarger receives “a 40% Collection Fee” that the Firm is “allowed to
add to the debt owed, as set forth in Florida Statute[] 28.246 . . . .” See id. at 5. “The Collection Fee of
40% that is added to the debt owed shall remain firm and fixed for the term of the Contract . . . unless
changed by Florida Statute.” Id.; see also Compl. ¶¶ 20–21. The Contract outlines the following
process for payment:
The Contractor shall forward all monies collected which are due to the
Clerk, on a daily basis. After the Clerk receives full payment for the debt
owed on a Client account, the Contractor may retain the additional
collected 40% Collection Fee placed on top of the debt owed to the
Clerk. . . . In the case where a Client makes a payment to a referring
Clerk Division at its local office, in response to collection efforts taken
by the Contractor, the payment shall be subject to the 40% Collection
Fee. The Clerk will remit the 40% Collection Fee to the Contractor when
the Clerk accepts payment by a Client.
2
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See Contract at 5.3
In practice, the Collection Fee is automatically imposed by “robo-calculation” immediately
upon assignment to Defendant Linebarger and prior to any actual legal services or collection activity.
Compl. ¶ 1. In fact, Linebarger “does not actively seek to collect any debts owed to the Miami-Dade
County Clerk of Courts.” Id. ¶ 43. Additionally, the Clerk allegedly retains a part of the 40% fee and
puts it into a fund for the use of the Clerk’s office. Id. ¶ 35.
B. Plaintiff’s Traffic Citation & Fee
On November 3, 2015, Plaintiff Natasha Guerra, a Miami-Dade resident, was issued a traffic
citation for speeding. See Compl. ¶¶ 7, 25; see also Ex. A to Ruvin’s Motion (hereinafter, the
“Citation”) (ECF No. 33-1).4 A pamphlet attached to the Citation contained a “Warning Notice,”
which explained as follows: “Pursuant to F.S. 28.246(6), any fine and cost that remain unpaid in excess
of 90 days may be referred to a collection agency, and an additional 40% charge will be added to the
amount owed.” See Pamphlet (ECF No. 33-3) at 4.

3

The Contract defines the word “Client” to mean an individual or entity that owes Miami-Dade
County Clerk of the Courts monies that are past due, and “Contractor” to mean Defendant Linebarger.
See Contract at 2.
4

The Court takes judicial notice of the Citation, along with the following documents: Ex. B. to Ruvin’s
Motion (ECF No. 33-2) (the “Traffic Court Judgment”); Ex. C to Ruvin’s Motion (ECF No. 33-3) (the
“Pamphlet”); and Ex. D. to Ruvin’s Motion (ECF No. 33-4) (the “Traffic Court Docket”). A district
court may take judicial notice of public records without converting a motion to dismiss into a motion
for summary judgment when records are “not subject to reasonable dispute” and are “capable of
accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy could not reasonably be
questioned.” See Horne v. Potter, 392 F. App’x 800, 802 (11th Cir. 2010) (citing Fed. R. Evid.
201(b)); Universal Express, Inc. v. S.E.C., 177 F. App’x 52, 53 (11th Cir. 2006) (“Public records are
among the permissible facts that a district court may consider [at the motion to dismiss stage].”); see
also Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 322 (2007) (“courts must consider the
complaint in its entirety, as well as . . . documents incorporated into the complaint by reference, and
matters of which a court may take judicial notice.”); Boyd v. Georgia, 512 F. App’x 915, 917 (11th
Cir. 2013) (“[T]he district court did not abuse its discretion in taking judicial notice of Boyd’s ongoing
state proceeding.”).
3
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On December 21, 2015, Plaintiff appeared in traffic court for the Citation and was found guilty
of a speeding offense (with a withheld adjudication). See Compl. ¶ 26; see also Traffic Court Judgment
(ECF No. 33-2). The hearing officer imposed a $392.00 fine, gave Plaintiff 30 days to pay it, and
warned that “[f]ailure to pay the balance on or before the agreed date may result in contempt of court,
the suspension of driver license, issuance of a bench warrant, or being required to reappear before the
court, in addition to the payment of penalty fees.” See Traffic Court Judgement at 2.
On January 20, 2016, a late fee of $16.00 was added to the amount due because Plaintiff did
not timely pay her fine, which raised the total sum to $408.00.5 Compl. ¶ 27. On January 30, 2017,
Plaintiff’s license was suspended for her failure to pay. See Traffic Court Docket at 2.
On April 19, 2016—three months after the court-ordered deadline for Plaintiff to pay her
speeding fine—the Clerk assigned Plaintiff’s delinquent fine to Linebarger and added a fee in the
amount of $163.20, which represented 40% of the amount due at the time of the assignment
(hereinafter, the “Collection Fee”). Compl. ¶ 28. As a result, Plaintiff’s total payment obligation was
raised to $571.20. Id. On the same day—before the Firm performed any legal or collections work—
Plaintiff paid the Clerk the full $571.20 at the Miami-Dade County Clerk Office. Id. ¶¶ 29, 34; see also
id. ¶ 1.
The Clerk, in his capacity as Miami-Dade County Clerk of the Courts, remitted part of the
Collection Fee to the Firm and kept a portion for the use of the Clerk’s office. Id. ¶ 30. None of the
communications sent to Plaintiff indicated that she had the right to dispute the imposition of the
Collection Fee. Id. ¶ 32.

5

This late fee is separate from, and in addition to, the Collection Fee that is the subject matter of the
Complaint. See Compl. ¶ 27.
4
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C. This Action
Against this backdrop, Plaintiff seeks to establish a class action against the Clerk (in his
official capacity) and Linebarger. In broad strokes, the suit is premised on the “premature” and
automatic “robo-imposition” of the Collection Fee, in combination with Defendants’ “policy,” in
“virtually all cases,” to “do nothing” but “simply wait for the debtor to pay.” Id. at ¶¶ 1, 9, 43, 44, 72.6
As a result of this policy, Defendants have allegedly “unjustly collected” millions of dollars. Id. ¶ 1.
Plaintiff argues that, because Linebarger does not engage in any collections activity, the Collection Fee
is not only unearned, but also unlawful under Florida Statute Section 28.246(6), which is the Florida
Statute purportedly authorizing the fee. Id. ¶ 2. Plaintiff also contends that the collection and retention
of the unearned fees violates the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution, the Florida
State Constitution, the Florida’s Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act (“FDUTPA”), and Florida
Statute Section § 57.051(1). Id.
Accordingly, on behalf of the putative class, Plaintiff lodges the following claims against
Defendants: Unjust Enrichment (Count I); Money Had and Received (Count II); Violation of the
Eighth Amendment and Article I, Section 17 of the Florida State Constitution (Count III); Violation of
the Procedural Due Process of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 9 of the Florida
Constitution (Count IV); Violation of Substantive Due Process (Count V); Violation of the Florida
Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act (“FDUTPA”), Fla. Stat. § 501.204 (Count VI); Declaratory
Relief Pursuant to Florida Statute Section 86.021 (Count VII); and Unlawful Exaction pursuant to

6

Plaintiff defines the putative class as “(i) all persons (ii) who owed money to the Miami-Dade County
Clerk of Court (iii) in connection with a parking, traffic, criminal, or civil penalty (iv) where such
obligation was referred to Linebarger Goggan Blair & Sampson, LLP for collection (v) and was
inflated by 40% by the Miami-Dade County Clerk of Court (vi) and where said person paid this
obligation directly to the Miami-Dade County Clerk of Court (vii) when Linebarger Goggan Blair &
Sampson, LLP had performed no collections work on the account (viii) during the four year period
prior to the filing of the complaint in this action through the date of certification.” See Compl. ¶ 45.
5
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Florida Statute Section 57.051 (Count VIII). Plaintiff seeks to recover all monies that were allegedly
collected unlawfully by Defendants, along with actual damages, injunctive relief, declaratory relief,
attorney fees, and interest. Id. ¶ 2.
The Defendants each moved to dismiss Plaintiff’s Complaint, arguing that the Clerk is entitled
to quasi-judicial immunity and that Plaintiff has failed to state a claim. See generally Linebarger’s
Motion; Ruvin’s Motion.7 Additionally, Linebarger argues that the Firm is entitled to quasi-judicial
immunity. See Linebarger’s Motion at 9–11. Plaintiff has filed a Response in Opposition to
Linebarger’s Motion (ECF No. 40) (“Linebarger Opp.”), and a Response in Opposition to Ruvin’s
Motion (ECF No. 41) (“Ruvin Opp.”). Defendants have each filed replies. See Linebarger’s Reply in
Further Support (ECF No. 45) (“Linebarger’s Reply”); Ruvin’s Reply in Further Support (ECF No. 46)
(“Ruvin’s Reply”).
II.

LEGAL STANDARD
A motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim merely tests the sufficiency of the complaint; it

does not decide the merits of the case. Milburn v. United States, 734 F.2d 762, 765 (11th Cir. 1984).
On a motion to dismiss, the Court must accept the factual allegations as true and construe the
complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff. SEC v. ESM Group. Inc., 835 F.2d at 272.
“To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as
true, to ‘state a claim for relief that is plausible on its face.’” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 678
(2009) (quoting Bell Atl. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). A complaint must contain enough
facts to indicate the presence of the required elements. Watts v. Fla. Int’l Univ., 495 F.3d 1289, 1302
(11th Cir. 2007). “[C]onclusory allegations, unwarranted deductions of fact or legal conclusions
7

Ruvin files his Motion to Dismiss (the “Clerk’s Motion”) in his capacity as the Clerk of the Circuit
and County Courts of the Eleventh Judicial Circuit in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida (“Clerk”).
See Ruvin’s Motion at 1.
6

Case 1:17-cv-20114-KMM Document 56 Entered on FLSD Docket 01/02/2018 Page 7 of 30

masquerading as facts will not prevent dismissal.” Oxford Asset Mgmt. Ltd. v. Jaharis, 297 F.3d 1182,
1188 (11th Cir. 2002).
III.

DISCUSSION
The questions before this Court are: (A) whether the Clerk and Linebarger are entitled to quasi-

judicial immunity for the subject matter of this suit; and (B) whether Plaintiff has stated a plausible
cause of action for each of her claims. The Court considers each issue in turn.
A. Quasi-Judicial Immunity
Defendants argue that Harvey Ruvin is entitled to quasi-judicial immunity because his actions
forming the basis of this suit were performed in his capacity as Clerk of Court for Miami-Dade
County. Ruvin Motion at 6–12; Linebarger Motion at 7–8. Linebarger also argues that the Clerk’s
immunity should extend to the Firm because Linebarger was appointed by Ruvin to carry out functions
for the Miami-Dade County Court. Linebarger Motion at 8–11. Plaintiff responds that quasi-judicial
immunity does not apply because this case does not involve a judicial act. See, e.g., Ruvin Opp. at 7.
After careful review, the Court finds that neither Defendant is entitled to quasi-judicial immunity.
Non-judicial officials, including clerks of court, are entitled to absolute immunity for “duties
that are integrally related to the judicial process.” Jenkins v. Clerk of Court, 150 F. App’x 988, 990
(11th Cir. 2005); see also Roland v. Phillips, 19 F.3d 552, 555 (11th Cir. 1994) (citation and internal
quotation marks omitted). However, “[t]he proponent of a claim to absolute immunity bears the burden
of establishing the justification for such immunity.” Antoine v. Byers & Anderson, Inc., 508 U.S. 429,
432 (1993).
“Absolute quasi-judicial immunity for nonjudicial officials is determined by a functional
analysis of their actions in relation to the judicial process.” Jenkins, 150 Fed. Appx. at 990. In other
words, a non-judicial official, like a clerk of court, is entitled to quasi-judicial immunity from suits
predicated on actions that are “integrally related to the judicial process.” Id.; see, e.g., Finfrock v. Flint,
7
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No. 206CV-230FTM-29DNF, 2006 WL 2884953, at *2 (M.D. Fla. Oct. 10, 2006) (finding clerk was
entitled to absolute quasi-judicial immunity where suit was premised on decisions regarding when to
issue service of process or whether to enter default judgment because those actions are “judicial
actions”).
However, as several courts have explained, quasi-judicial immunity is a defense to individual
capacity suits—but not official capacity suits. See, e.g., VanHorn v. Oelschlager, 502 F.3d 775, 779
(8th Cir. 2007) (holding that commissioners for the Nebraska State Racing Commission could not
receive quasi-judicial immunity in their official capacities); Alkire v. Irving, 330 F.3d 802, 810–11 (6th
Cir. 2003) (explaining that a sheriff and county judge could not claim quasi-judicial or qualified
immunity for official-capacity § 1983 claims); Dotzel v. Ashbridge, 438 F.3d 320, 327 n.5 (3d Cir.
2006) (explaining that official capacity claims against members of a township’s board of supervisors
are not subject to quasi-judicial immunity, even though the board members were entitled to quasijudicial immunity in their individual capacities). As the Eleventh Circuit explained, “personal defenses
are generally unavailable in official capacity suits because such suits are treated as suits against the
underlying entity.” Scott v. Taylor, 405 F.3d 1251, 1255 (11th Cir. 2005). As a result, the “only
immunities that can be claimed in an official-capacity action are forms of sovereign immunity that the
entity, qua entity, may possess, such as the Eleventh Amendment.” Kentucky v. Graham, 473 U.S. 159,
167 (1985).
Here, Plaintiff sues Ruvin only in his official capacity as Clerk of Court. See Compl. ¶ 9 (“This
action is brought against Harvey Ruvin in his official capacity only and not in his personal capacity.”).
Because Plaintiff is not suing Ruvin in his individual capacity, Ruvin is not entitled to quasi-judicial
immunity. See Alkire, 330 F.3d at 810–11 (finding, in an official-capacity suit, sherriff and judge
“cannot claim any personal immunities, such as quasi-judicial or qualified immunity, to which they

8
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might be entitled if sued in their individual or personal capacities.”).8 Thus, the Clerk is not entitled to
quasi-judicial immunity in this action.9
Linebarger is not entitled to quasi-judicial immunity for similar reasons. When a private
corporate entity contracts with a public entity to offer functions “traditionally within the exclusive
prerogative of the state[,] . . . it becomes the functional equivalent of [a] municipality.” See Buckner v.
Toro, 116 F.3d 450, 452 (11th Cir. 1997). Here, Plaintiff’s claims against Linebarger stem from the
fact that the Firm is “engaged by Miami-Dade County to collect on unpaid civil penalties, fines, and
court cost orders,” Compl. ¶ 1. In relevant part, Florida law tasks clerks of court, like Ruvin, with
collecting fines, see Fla. Stat. § 28.246(3), and permits clerks to delegate the collection of any fines
that are unpaid after 90 days to a private attorney, see id. § 28.246(6). The Parties agree that the suit
stems from Linebarger’s contracting to perform a public function on behalf of a public official. See
Linebarger Opp. at 2, 5 (Linebarger was “standing in the shoes of the Clerk”); Linebarger Motion at 9
(Linebarger’s contract with the Clerk to provide collection services “places it in a role that would
otherwise be filled by Miami-Dade County employees.”). Because this suit arises from Linebarger’s

8

“[O]fficial-capacity suits generally represent only another way of pleading an action against an entity
of which an officer is an agent . . . .” Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Servs. of City of New York, 436 U.S. 658,
691 n.55 (1978); see also Matthews v. Jones, 35 F.3d 1046, 1049 (6th Cir.1994) (“A suit against an
individual in his official capacity is the equivalent of a suit against the governmental entity.”). Because
Ruvin has responded to the Complaint “as Clerk of the Circuit and County Courts of the Eleventh
Judicial Circuit in and for Miami-Dade County, Florida,” see Ruvin’s Motion at 1, the Court finds that
any judgment resulting from this official capacity suit may properly impose liability on the entity that
Ruvin represents, barring any applicable immunities. See Brandon v. Holt, 469 U.S. 464, 471–72
(1985) (“[A] judgment against a public servant ‘in his official capacity’ imposes liability on the entity
that he represents provided, of course, the public entity received notice and an opportunity to
respond.”).
9

The Defendants have not attempted to invoke sovereign immunity under the Eleventh Amendment,
and the Court declines to consider the issue sua sponte. See Bouchard Transp. Co. v. Florida Dep’t of
Envtl. Prot., 91 F.3d 1445, 1448 (11th Cir. 1996) (“[T]he Supreme Court has held that the Eleventh
Amendment is not jurisdictional in the sense that courts must address the issue sua sponte . . . .” (citing
Patsy v. Board of Regents, 457 U.S. 496, 515 n.19 (1982))).
9

Case 1:17-cv-20114-KMM Document 56 Entered on FLSD Docket 01/02/2018 Page 10 of 30

contracting to perform a public function, “a suit against such a corporate entity is an official capacity
suit.” Carden v. Town of Harpersville, No. 2:15-CV-01381-RDP, 2017 WL 4180858, at *21 (N.D.
Ala. Sept. 21, 2017).10 Because it appears that the suit against Linebarger is an official capacity suit,
Linebarger likewise cannot invoke quasi-judicial immunity. See, e.g., id. at *21 (holding suit against
private corporation appointed to carry out functions for a municipal court was an official capacity suit,
and thus the corporation was not entitled to quasi-judicial immunity); Ray v. Judicial Correction
Servs., Inc., No. 2:12-CV-02819-RDP, 2017 WL 4012933, at *18 (N.D. Ala. Sept. 12, 2017) (same).
Moreover, even if Linebarger were being sued in its individual capacity, Linebarger’s quasijudicial immunity argument would fail because Linebarger has not satisfied its burden of showing that
it is entitled to such immunity. See Antoine, 508 U.S. at 432 (“The proponent of a claim to absolute
immunity bears the burden of establishing the justification for such immunity.”). Linebarger essentially
argues that its collection services on behalf of the Clerk were “absolutely integral to the judicial
process” because those services placed Linebarger “in a role that would otherwise be filled by MiamiDade County employees.” Linebarger Motion at 9. However, that a defendant’s actions would be
performed by public officials is plainly not the test for quasi-judicial immunity. Rather, defendants’
entitlement to such immunity is “determined by a functional analysis of their actions in relation to the
judicial process.” Jenkins, 150 Fed. Appx. at 990 (emphasis added).

10

Additionally, Plaintiff alleges that “Defendant Linebarger is acting under color of state law and with
authority delegated by the state . . . .” Compl. ¶ 76; see also id. ¶ 77 (“The Defendants are acting under
color of state law and with authority delegated by the state . . . .”). “In the absence of any express
statement that the parties are being sued in their individual capacities, an allegation that the defendants
were acting under color of law generally is construed as a suit against the defendants in their official
capacities only.” Yeksigian v. Nappi, 900 F.2d 101, 104 (7th Cir. 1990); see also Kelly v. City of
Omaha, Neb., 813 F.3d 1070, 1075 (8th Cir. 2016) (because plaintiff’s complaint did not include an
“express statement” that she was suing defendants in their individual capacity, her suit will be
considered one against the defendants in their official capacity).
10
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Officials are entitled to absolute quasi-judicial immunity when those officials perform
discretionary functions analogous to judges, or when carrying out a judge’s explicit instructions—but
not when performing routine ministerial duties. See Scott v. Dixon, 720 F.2d 1542, 1545 (11th Cir.
1983) (clerk of court “enjoyed absolute immunity in exercising a discretionary judicial function,” such
as deciding whether to issue criminal warrants); Williams v. Wood, 612 F.2d 982, 985 (5th Cir. 1980)11
(clerk has absolute immunity when carrying out judge’s “explicit instructions” or court decrees, but
only qualified immunity for “routine duties”); see also Roland, 19 F.3d at 556 n.4 (“Our previous
recognition of absolute quasi-judicial immunity has been in contexts where the official in question
acted in an analogous judicial capacity rather than pursuant to a judicial order,” however, “[w]hen an
official acts pursuant to a direct judicial order, absolute quasi-judicial immunity is obvious.”).
Here, the Complaint contains no allegations that Linebarger acted pursuant to a court order or
exercised any judicial discretion. Rather, Linebarger operated pursuant to an agreement with the Clerk
(the Contract), who, in turn, was purportedly operating pursuant to a state statute (Fla. Stat. § 28.246).
Moreover, Linebarger has presented no meritorious argument for the proposition that its role in this
matter—which is essentially debt collection—is otherwise an integrally judicial function.12
Accordingly, the Court finds that Linebarger is not entitled to quasi-judicial immunity.
11

In Bonner v. City of Prichard, 661 F.2d 1206, 1209 (11th Cir. 1981) (en banc) the Eleventh Circuit
adopted as binding precedent all the decisions of the former Fifth Circuit handed down prior to the
close of business on September 30, 1981.

12

The cases cited by Linebarger are inapposite because they concern: (a) conduct that is completely
different from Linebarger’s debt collection activities; (b) conduct of individuals carrying out court
orders or administrative orders that were deemed judicial acts; and/or (c) doctrinally-distinct forms of
immunity. See, e.g., Filarsky v. Delia, 566 U.S. 377, 393–94 (2012) (attorney retained by Government
to conduct internal affairs investigation was entitled to seek the protection of qualified immunity);
Coverdell v. Dep’t of Social & Health Servs., Wash., 834 F.2d 758, 765 (9th Cir. 1987) (finding child
protective services worker who took custody of child pursuant to court order was immune from suit);
Montejo v. Martin Mem’l Med Ctr., Inc., 935 So.2d 1266 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006) (private hospital was
not entitled to quasi-judicial immunity because it was not executing court order that is integral to the
judicial process); Boczar v. Glendening, 555 So. 2d 1286, 1287 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990) (finding statutory
11
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B. Plaintiff’s Claims
Because Defendants have not asserted any meritorious arguments concerning immunity, the
Court next considers Defendants’ arguments that Plaintiff has failed to state a claim under Federal
Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6). At bottom, Plaintiff’s eight claims are focused on whether the
Clerk’s automatic imposition of the 40% Collection Fee—when no collection activity is performed—is
unlawful under Florida law, unconstitutional under the federal and state constitutions, or is otherwise
inequitable or unfair. The Court begins with the statutory question.
1)

Unlawful Exaction Pursuant to Fla. Stat § 57.051 (Count VIII)

Florida law provides that “[n]o fee shall be charged for any official service performed or
claimed to be performed by any officer unless the fee is specifically authorized and its amount is
specified by law.” Fla. Stat. § 57.051(a). Plaintiff contends that the Collection Fee is not authorized by
law, and that Defendant Ruvin is an “officer,” who, in retaining Linebarger to collect overdue fines, is
performing (or claiming to perform) an official service within the meaning of Section 57.051(a). Ruvin
argues that this claim fails because Ruvin’s assessment of the Collection Fee is explicitly authorized by
Florida law in Fla. Stat. § 28.246(6) (the “Statute”).

immunity for physician stemming from his examination of a child and reporting potential child abuse);
Zock v. Miller, 505 So.2d 18 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987) (psychiatrist appointed by court to examine
criminally accused enjoyed quasi-judicial immunity from liability); Mueller v. Fla. Bar, 390 So. 2d
449, (Fla. 4th DCA 1980) (prosecutorial immunity extends to the Florida Bar for its involvement in
grievance matters).
At first blush, the decision in Zoba v. City of Coral Springs, appears to extend to the facts of this case
because the Zoba court held that a clerk of court collecting a traffic fine was protected by quasijudicial immunity. 189 So.3d 888, (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2016). However, the Zoba court applied Florida
law, which similarly requires that quasi-judicial immunity must arise from a judicial act, and found
that the clerk’s duty to collect payments for citations “stemmed” from an administrative order, which
was a “judicial act.” Id. at 893. This is not the case here, where Defendants have failed to articulate any
judicial act.
12
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The analysis of a statute begins with an examination of its text. See Desert Palace, Inc. v.
Costa, 539 U.S. 90, 98 (2003). In relevant part, the Statute provides as follows:
“A clerk of court shall pursue the collection of . . . fines . . . which
remain unpaid after 90 days by referring the account to a private attorney
. . . or collection agent . . . . In pursuing the collection of such unpaid
financial obligations through a private attorney or collection agent, the
clerk of the court must have attempted to collect the unpaid amount
through a collection court, collections docket, or other collections
process, if any, established by the court, find this to be cost-effective and
follow any applicable procurement practices. The collection fee,
including any reasonable attorney’s fee, paid to any attorney or
collection agent retained by the clerk may be added to the balance owed
in an amount not to exceed 40 percent of the amount owed at the time
the account is referred to the attorney or agent for collection. . . .
Fla. Stat. § 28.246(6). Ruvin and Plaintiff agree that the first sentence of the Statute requires the Clerk
to refer fines that are unpaid after 90 days (like Plaintiff’s) to a private attorney or collection agent
(like the Firm). See Ruvin Motion. at 13; Ruvin Opp. at 5–6. Ruvin and Plaintiff also agree that the
Statute authorizes a collection fee up to 40% of the amount owed on any fines that remain unpaid after
90 days (like Plaintiff’s). See Compl. ¶ 2.
However, Plaintiff argues that the Statute does not support Ruvin’s imposition of the Collection
Fee immediately upon referral when Linebarger had not performed any collection work because the
Statute requires the collection agent to have performed work prior to assessing any collection fee. In
support of her interpretation, Plaintiff points to the language and legislative history of the statute.13
First, Plaintiff points to the following language of the Statute: “In pursuing the collection of
such unpaid financial obligations through a private attorney or collection agent, the clerk of the court
must have attempted to collect the unpaid amount through a collection court, collections docket, or

13

Plaintiff also suggests that the Contract may somehow elucidate the meaning of the Statute. See, e.g.,
Ruvin Opp. at 6 (“This statutory requirement is reiterated and amplified by the Contract itself.”)
Although the Court may consider the Contract to determine whether the arrangement therein complies
with the Statute, it is plainly not evidence of whether the Collection Fee is authorized by law.
13
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other collections process, if any, established by the court, find this to be cost-effective and follow any
applicable procurement practices.” Ruvin Opp. at 5–6 (quoting Fla. Stat. § 28.246(6)). Plaintiff argues
that, because the Statute requires the Clerk to pursue the unpaid fine through a private attorney or
collection agent, this sentence actually imposes an obligation on Linebarger, as the collection agent, to
attempt to collect the unpaid amount through a collections process established by the Court. Id.
The Court disagrees. First, the plain language of the statute renders “the clerk of court” the
subject of the sentence. Second, the phrase “must have attempted” merely requires that clerks
participate in whatever collections process that the court has established—if the court has established
one at all. To the extent there is ambiguity, the Court looks to the purpose of the statute, which is to
“pursue the collection of . . . fines . . . which remain unpaid after 90 days” in a “cost-effective”
manner. See Fla. Stat. § 28.246(6). To construe this phrase to impose an obligation on a clerk of court
(or its collection agent) to pursue debt collection only via “a collection court” or a “collections docket”
in the absence of a court-established collections process would contravene this purpose. Instead the
sentence is more appropriately construed to reflect the legislature’s deferral to the court’s authority to
establish its own methods of collection activity (if the court choses to do so). Notably, Plaintiff has not
pointed to (or alleged) any collection procedures established by the Eleventh Judicial Circuit Court that
the Clerk has failed to comply with.14 Finally, even construing the plain language of the statute in
Plaintiff’s favor, the statute does not speak about the timing of the imposition of the collection fee.15
14

Indeed, Defendant has argued that the Eleventh Judicial Circuit has not established any such process
and Plaintiff has not contested this point. “When a party fails to address a specific claim, or fails to
respond to an argument made by the opposing party, the Court deems such claim or argument
abandoned.” Ramsey v. Bd. of Regents of Univ. Sys. of Georgia, No. 1:11-CV-3862-JOF-JSA, 2013
WL 1222492, at *29 (N.D. Ga. Jan. 30, 2013), aff’d, 543 F. App’x 966 (11th Cir. 2013).

15

The Parties dispute what the clause “at the time the account is referred to the attorney or agent for
collection” modifies. Ruvin suggests it modifies the time at which the collection fee may be added to
the balance. See Ruvin’s Motion at 14. Plaintiff suggests it merely clarifies that the amount added as a
collection fee may not exceed 40% of whatever is owed at the time the account is referred to the
14
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Rather it vests the clerk of court with discretion to assess a collection fee of up to 40% of the amount
otherwise owed per each unpaid fine. That is precisely what the Clerk did in this instance. See, e.g.,
Compl. ¶ 28; Contract at 5 (providing that Linebarger is to receive “a 40% Collection Fee” added to
the debt owed).
The legislative history cited by Plaintiff does not persuade the Court to alter its interpretation of
the statute. Plaintiff contends that the legislative history—namely, the addition of the “attempted to
collect” phrase in 2004—proves that the bill was designed to allow collection agencies to recover costs
of collection only “if they fulfilled the statutory requirement of ‘attempting to collect’ via courtestablished process.” Ruvin Opp. at 6. But the legislative history, if anything shows the opposite. The
Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact statement explains that “[s]everal sections of this bill
restore the authority for collection agencies to recover the cost of collection” and that “the effect is to
allow current cost recoveries now being received by private entities to continue . . . .” See Ex. B. to
Ruvin Opp. (ECF No. 41-2) at 17. In other words, the addition of the “attempted to collect” phrase did
nothing other than to restore the status quo as to private collection agencies’ ability to recover costs.16

collection agent. See Ruvin Opp. at 7. The first construction is fatal to Plaintiff’s claim because it
explicitly authorizes the Clerk’s automatic assessment of the 40% at the time of referral. However,
Plaintiff’s alternative construction does not buoy Plaintiff’s claim because such a reading would
merely render the statute silent as to when the fee may be added.
16

Plaintiff focuses on the phrase “recover the cost of collection” in the Staff Analysis, and suggests
that it means a collection agent may only recover the cost of collecting each unpaid account. See Ruvin
Opp. 41. However, this reading defies common sense. See generally Wedemeyer v. Pneudraulics, Inc.,
510 F. App’x 875, 877 (11th Cir. 2013) (“Determining whether a complaint states a plausible claim for
relief will . . . be a context-specific task that requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial
experience and common sense”). Such a reading would almost certainly result in collections firms
operating at a loss (and thus rationally declining to work for the clerks of court) because the nature of
collections work is such that some accounts may never be paid. As a result, Plaintiff’s reading
contravenes the purpose of the statute—which is to allow the clerk to delegate collections duties to a
third-party collection agent.
15
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The Court finds that the Collection Fee charged by the Clerk is authorized by law. Accordingly,
Plaintiff’s unlawful exaction claim (Count VIII) is hereby DISMISSED.
2)

Unjust Enrichment (Count I) & Money Had and Received (Count II)

Plaintiff lodges claims for unjust enrichment and for money had and received. See Compl. ¶¶
55–64. In both claims, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants’ receipt of the Collection Fee is unlawful and
unjust, and that it would be unfair and inequitable for Defendants to retain the funds collected from the
Collection Fee. Id. Accordingly, Plaintiff contends, such funds should be disgorged to the putative
class. Id.
At the outset, the Court notes that these claims are the same. See Hucke v. Kubra Data
Transfer, Ltd., 160 F.Supp.3d 1320, 1329 n.1 (S.D. Fla. 2015) (“unjust enrichment and money had and
received are different names for the same theory of restitution-based equitable relief.”). Accordingly,
“the elements of both causes of action are the same.” Kelly v. Palmer, Reifler, & Assocs., P.A., 681 F.
Supp. 2d 1356, 1384 (S.D. Fla. 2010). To state a cause of action for unjust enrichment, a complaint
must allege that: (1) the plaintiff has conferred a benefit on the defendant; (2) the defendant has
knowledge of the benefit; (3) the defendant has accepted or retained the benefit conferred; and (4) the
circumstances are such that it would be inequitable for the defendant to retain the benefit without
paying fair value for it. Merle Wood & Assocs., Inc. v. Trinity Yachts, LLC, 714 F.3d 1234, 1237 (11th
Cir. 2013) (citation omitted).
Defendants argue that Plaintiff’s unjust enrichment claims fail because, inter alia,17 the
Collection Fee is statutorily authorized, and thus it would not be “inequitable” for defendants to retain
the sums collected via the imposition of the Collection Fee. The Court agrees.

17

Defendants also argue that these claims fail because they are premised on the violation of a statute,
which does not provide for a private right of action. Additionally, Linebarger argues that Plaintiff’s
claims against it fail because the Complaint never alleges that Plaintiff conferred any benefits directly
16
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Under Florida law, an action for unjust enrichment is appropriate when an entity “accepts and
retains benefits that it is not legally entitled to receive in the first place . . . .” State Farm Fire & Cas.
Co. v. Silver Star Health & Rehab, 739 F.3d 579, 584 (11th Cir. 2013). Conversely, when a defendant
is legally entitled to a benefit that is the subject of an unjust enrichment claim, the unjust enrichment
claim fails because it would not be “inequitable” for that Defendant to retain that benefit. See, e.g., City
of Miami v. Bank of Am. Corp., 800 F.3d 1262, 1289 (11th Cir. 2015) (affirming the dismissal of City
of Miami’s unjust enrichment claim against bank because, inter alia, the defendant bank was legally
entitled to the municipal benefits the city conferred upon it), vacated on other grounds sub nom. Bank
of Am. Corp. v. City of Miami, Fla., 137 S. Ct. 1296 (2017); Senter v. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A.,
810 F. Supp. 2d 1339, 1366 (S.D. Fla. 2011) (dismissing unjust enrichment claim and finding Plaintiffs
failed to plead that the retention of benefits by the Defendants would be unjust where Defendants were
legally entitled to benefits they received); In re US Capital Holdings, LLC, No. 12-14517-JKO, 2013
WL 5297352, at *7 (Bankr. S.D. Fla. Aug. 5, 2013) (dismissing unjust enrichment claim on the
grounds that the Complaint “fails to meet the fourth element necessary for an unjust enrichment claim
because [the defendant] received nothing which it was not legally entitled to receive.”).
As discussed in Section III.B.1, supra, the Collection Fee is authorized by Florida law. Thus,
Defendants are legally entitled to the Collection Fee, and it would not be unjust for Defendants to
retain the proceeds of the Collection Fee.18 Accordingly, Plaintiff’s Unjust Enrichment and Money
Had and Received Claims (Counts I and II) are DISMISSED.

to Linebarger, but rather paid the Collection Fee to the Clerk. As set forth below, the Court concludes
that Counts I and II fail for an independently sufficient reason, and thus declines to address these
arguments.
18

The Court rejects Plaintiff’s arguments premised on Linebarger’s alleged lack of collection efforts
for two reasons. First, as discussed in Section III.B.1., the Collection Fee may be imposed under the
Statute without the collection agent’s engagement in particular collection efforts. Second, Plaintiff, as a
non-party to the Contract, cannot enforce the terms of the Contract against either of the Defendants.
17
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3)

Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade Practices Act (Count VI)

Plaintiff lodges a claim against Defendants under the Florida Deceptive and Unfair Trade
Practices Act (“FDUTPA”), Fla. Stat. § 501.204. Defendants argue that the FDUTPA claim fails for
three reasons. First, Defendants argue that the FDUTPA claims lack a statutory predicate. Second,
Defendants argues that Defendants’ alleged breach of contract cannot serve as the predicate for
Plaintiff’s FDUTPA claim. Third, Defendants argue that FDUTPA does not apply to the conduct at
issue because such conduct does not constitute “trade or commerce.”
a) Whether FDUTPA Claims Fail Because They Lack a Statutory Predicate
Defendants argue that the FDUTPA claim fails because the statute that the Defendants are
alleged to have violated—Fla. Stat. § 28.246—cannot serve as a statutory predicate for a FDUTPA
claim because the Statute does not proscribe an unfair or deceptive act. See Linebarger Reply at 9–10;
Ruvin Reply at 8–9. Defendants’ argument is predicated on a misunderstanding of the FDUTPA
statute.
A FDUTPA claim does not necessarily require the violation of a predicate statute. In order to
state a FDUTPA claim, a plaintiff “must allege (1) a deceptive act or unfair trade practice; (2)
causation; and (3) actual damages.” Dolphin LLC v. WCI Communities, Inc., 715 F.3d 1243, 1250
(11th Cir. 2013). The first element may be satisfied in one of two ways: a per se violation or a
See Lawson v. Life of the S. Ins. Co., 648 F.3d 1166, 1168 (11th Cir. 2011) (Generally “one who is not
a party to an agreement cannot enforce its terms against one who is a party” because the “right of
enforcement generally belongs to those who have purchased it by agreeing to be bound by the terms of
the contract themselves.”).
The Court also rejects Plaintiff’s arguments premised on the allegation that the Clerk has retained a
portion of the Collection Fee instead of rendering it to Linebarger because Plaintiff has no standing to
lodge such a claim. See Lujan v. Defs. of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 560 (1992) (holding “plaintiff must
have suffered an ‘injury in fact’” in order to have standing); see also id. at 560 n.1 (clarifying “the
injury must affect the plaintiff in a personal and individual way.”). Here, Plaintiff has not explained
how the Clerk’s retention of a portion of the Collection Fee instead of rendering it entirely to
Linebarger has injured Plaintiff.
18
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traditional violation. See, e.g., Parr v. Maesbury Homes, Inc., No. 609CV-1268-ORL-19GJK, 2009
WL 5171770, at *7 (M.D. Fla. Dec. 22, 2009). Defendants’ argument focuses on the first way: the per
se FDUTPA violation, which requires a violation of a predicate statute. See Fla. Stat. § 501.203(3)(c)
(a violation of any “law, statute, rule, or ordinance which proscribes unfair methods of competition, or
unfair, deceptive, or unconscionable acts or practices” may serve as a predicate for a FDUTPA claim).
However, a FDUTPA plaintiff may also satisfy the first element by showing a traditional violation,
alleging defendants engaged in “[u]nfair methods of competition, unconscionable acts or practices, and
unfair or deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any trade or commerce.” See Fla. Stat. §
501.204(1); see also Herazo v. Whole Foods Mkt., Inc., No. 14-61909-CIV, 2015 WL 4514510, at *4
(S.D. Fla. July 24, 2015) (“An act, however, does not need to violate a specific rule or regulation to be
considered deceptive.” (citation omitted)).
As the Complaint makes clear, Plaintiff alleges only a traditional violation. See Compl. at 18
(describing Count VI as a “Violation of Fla[.] Stat. § 501.204,” which is the portion of the FDUTPA
that outlines a traditional violation). In fact, Plaintiff articulates the exact premise of its FDUTPA
claim: “Defendants’ conduct amounts to unfair practice of commerce since it violates a contract in
order to profit from consumers who cannot reasonably avoid the inflated fees.” See id. ¶ 80.
Accordingly, the Court rejects Defendants’ argument for dismissal on this basis.
b) Whether Plaintiff Has Pled a Traditional FDUTPA Violation
Defendants’ remaining arguments are focused on whether Plaintiff has sufficiently alleged a
traditional FDUTPA violation. As noted above, the Complaint explicitly alleges the premise of its
FDUTPA claim: “Defendants’ conduct amounts to unfair practice of commerce since it violates a
contract in order to profit from consumers who cannot reasonably avoid the inflated fees.” See id. ¶ 80.
Defendants argue that this allegation represents an impermissible attempt to base a FDUTPA claim
exclusively on a breach of contract.
19
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Defendants are correct as a legal matter that a FDUTPA violation cannot be premised
exclusively on an allegation that an action violated a contractual obligation. See Rebman v. Follett
Higher Educ. Grp., Inc., 575 F. Supp. 2d 1272, 1279 (M.D. Fla. 2008) (dismissing FDUTPA claim
which “challenge[d] the act of breaching the Agreement as unfair or deceptive rather than the act
giving rise to the breach” because a “breach of contract claim . . . cannot be converted to a claim under
FDUTPA”); cf. id. at 1276 (“[N]on-parties who receive merely an incidental or consequential benefit
from a contract have no right to its enforcement.”). However, this principle does not prohibit Plaintiff
from pursuing a FDUTPA claim related to Defendants’ alleged breach of the Contract as long as “the
act giving rise to the breach also constitutes an alleged unfair or deceptive trade practice.” Id. at 1279;
see also PNR, Inc. v. Beacon Prop. Mgmt., 842 So.2d 773, 777 n. 2 (Fla. 2003) (“To the extent an
action giving rise to a breach of contract or breach of lease may also constitute an unfair or deceptive
act, such a claim is and has always been cognizable under the FDUTPA.”).
Here, the FDUTPA-specific allegation rests on the mere allegation of breach, and is thus
insufficient to sustain a FDUTPA claim. Indeed, Plaintiff acknowledges this principle, but argues that
“[e]ven absent the Contract, Plaintiff’s FDUTPA claim would stand.” See Ruvin Opp. at 16.
Specifically, Plaintiff argues that Defendants’ assessing the Collection Fee despite Linebarger’s
alleged failure to perform any collections work is “patently unfair . . . . immoral, unethical, oppressive,
unscrupulous, and substantially injurious to consumers.” Id. at 15–16.19

19

Ruvin contends that Plaintiff is impermissibly attempting to amend her Complaint via her
Opposition briefs. See Ruvin’s Reply at 9 (citing Car Carriers, Inc. v. Ford Motor Co., 745 F.2d 1101,
1107 (7th Cir. 1984) (“[I]t is axiomatic that the complaint may not be amended by the briefs in
opposition to a motion to dismiss.”)). However, the Court notes that the FDUTPA claim explicitly
incorporates the other non-claim-specific allegations in the Complaint. See Compl. ¶ 78 (“Plaintiff
incorporates paragraphs 1 through 54 above as if fully restated herein.”). Because Plaintiff’s argument
rests on other allegations in the Complaint, the Court considers the argument.
20
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However, as this Court has already found, the Statute permits the assessment of the Collection
Fee without requiring a collection agent to perform any collections work prior to its assessment. See
Section III.B.1, supra. As a result, to the extent that Plaintiff bases her FDUTPA claim on the
imposition of the Collection Fee in the absence of Linebarger’s collection activity, the FDUTPA claim
is foreclosed by the FDUTPA safe harbor provision. This safe harbor provision provides that a
FDUTPA claim cannot be premised on “[a]n act or practice required or specifically permitted by
federal or state law.” Fla. Stat. § 501.212(1); see, e.g., Montero v. Duval Cty. Sch. Bd., 153 So. 3d 407,
412 (Fla. 1st DCA 2014) (holding that a FDUTPA claim against a school board failed because the
board’s action was required or specifically permitted by state law); Prohias v. AstraZeneca
Pharmaceuticals, L.P., 958 So.2d 1054, 1056 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007) (finding that a plaintiff failed to
state a FDUTPA claim where the defendant’s drug labeling complied with FDA requirements).
Notably, the safe harbor provision does not contain an “exception for unwise or even incompetently
enforced federal or state laws.” Pye v. Fifth Generation, Inc., No. 4:14CV493-RH/CAS, 2015 WL
5634600, at *4 (N.D. Fla. Sept. 23, 2015).20 Because Plaintiff has failed to allege facts to support a
FDUPTA claim, Count VI is DISMISSED.21
4)

Section 1983 Claims (Counts III, IV, and V)

Plaintiff lodges several claims against Defendants under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, alleging violations
of the federal Constitution and the Florida Constitution. Specifically, in Count III, Plaintiff alleges a

20

To the extent Plaintiff bases the FDUTPA claim on the Clerk’s alleged retention of a portion of the
Collection Fee, instead of rendering it in its entirety to Linebarger, the claim would fail to properly
allege that this act caused her damages. See Kais v. Mansiana Ocean Residences, LLC, No. 08-21492CIV-MORENO, 2009 WL 825763, at *2 (S.D. Fla. Mar. 26, 2009) (dismissing FDUTPA claim
because “Plaintiff has failed to state how any of the alleged deceptive or unfair practices caused
damage to Plaintiff.”).
21

Because the FDUTPA claim fails, the Court declines to reach Defendants’ remaining argument
concerning whether Defendants participated in “trade or commerce” within the meaning of FDUTPA.
21
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violation of the Eighth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Violation of Article I,
Section 17 of the Florida State Constitution. In Count IV, Plaintiff alleges that her procedural due
process rights under both constitutions have been violated. In Count V, Plaintiff alleges a violation of
her substantive due process rights.
Defendants argue that each of these counts fails to state a claim.22 For the reasons set forth
below, the Court agrees. To state a claim under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, a plaintiff must allege that “(1) the
defendant deprived him of a right secured under the United States Constitution or federal law and (2)
such deprivation occurred under color of state law.” Richardson v. Johnson, 598 F.3d 734, 737 (11th
Cir. 2010) (citations omitted). In addition, a plaintiff must allege and establish an “affirmative causal
connection between the defendant’s conduct and the constitutional deprivation.” Soto v. City of N.
Miami, No. CV 17-22090-CIV, 2017 WL 4685301, at *5 (S.D. Fla. Oct. 17, 2017) (citing Troupe v.
Sarasota Cty., 419 F.3d 1160, 1165 (11th Cir. 2005)).
a) Eighth Amendment (Count III)
Plaintiff asserts that the Collection Fee is an excessive fine that violates the Eighth Amendment
of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 17 of the Florida State Constitution. Defendants
argue that the excessive fine clauses of both constitutions do not prohibit the assessment of the
Collection Fee because, inter alia, the fee is designed to compensate the collection agency and is thus
beyond the scope of both clauses.23 The Court agrees.
The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides: “Excessive bail shall not be
required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted.” U.S. Const.
22

Linebarger also argues that all of these claims fail against it because it is not a state actor for the
purposes of a § 1983. See Linebarger’s Motion at 13–15. Because the Court finds that these claims fail
as a matter of law, it need not address Linebarger’s remaining argument.
23

Defendants also argue that the fee is not excessive. The Court does not address this argument
because it finds that the claim otherwise fails.
22
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amend. VIII. The Florida Constitution “similarly forbids excessive fines.” State v. Cotton, 198 So. 3d
737, 741 (Fla. 2d DCA 2016), review denied, No. SC16-544, 2016 WL 3272991 (Fla. June 15, 2016);
see Art. I, § 17, Fla. Const. (“Excessive fines, cruel and unusual punishment, attainder, forfeiture of
estate, indefinite imprisonment, and unreasonable detention of witnesses are forbidden.”). Florida
Courts apply the same analysis for both clauses. See, e.g, State v. Jones, 180 So. 3d 1085, 1088 (Fla.
4th DCA 2015).
The Eighth Amendment’s Excessive Fines Clause “limits the government’s power to extract
payments, whether in cash or in kind, ‘as punishment for some offense.’” Austin v. United States, 509
U.S. 602, 609–10 (1993) (emphasis omitted) (quoting Browning-Ferris Indus. of Vt., Inc. v. Kelco
Disposal, Inc., 492 U.S. 257, 265 (1989)). While civil fines may, in limited circumstances, fall within
the ambit of the Eighth Amendment’s prohibition, only fines that are so excessive that they “can only
be explained as serving in part to punish” are subject to Eighth Amendment review. Id. at 610.
Similarly, under the Florida analogue, “[a] payment is remedial, and not punitive, if it compensates the
government for a loss and therefore is not subject to the Excessive Fines Clause.” Jones, 180 So. 3d at
1088.
Here, Plaintiff fails to proffer any meritorious argument that the Collection Fee is punitive as
opposed to remedial. In fact, Plaintiff does not allege that Collection Fee has a punitive purpose. See,
e.g., Compl. ¶ 68 (“The automatic imposition, collection, and retention of a 40% collection fee prior to
any collection activity or service is done to maximize Defendant Linebarger’s profits and to increase
the special fund established by Defendant Ruvin.”).24 Moreover, the plain text and legislative history

24

Plaintiff appears to concede that “the true purpose of the statute is to compensate for the actual costs
of collection . . . .” See Ruvin Opp. at 14. Plaintiff then argues that “the purpose for which the Clerk is
employing [the Statute] (collecting a 40% windfall payment for doing absolutely nothing) is wholly
improper.” Id. However, Plaintiff provides no support for the proposition that a statute, which has a
23
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of Section 28.246(6) reveal that the purpose of the Statute is not punitive, but remedial. The Statute
indicates that the Collection Fee is added to the existing fine in order to compensate collection agents
or attorneys for their services in collecting unpaid fines. See Fla. Stat. § 28.246(6) (“[t]he collection
fee, including any reasonable attorney’s fee, paid to any attorney or collection agent retained by the
clerk may be added to the balance owed . . . “). The legislative history supports this conclusion. The
Senate Staff Analysis and Economic Impact statement explains that “[s]everal sections of this bill
restore the authority for collection agencies to recover the cost of collection” and that “the effect is to
allow current cost recoveries now being received by private entities to continue . . . .” See Ex. B. to
Ruvin Opp. (ECF No. 41-2) at 17.
Because the Court finds that the purpose of Collection Fee is remedial instead of punitive, the
Collection Fee does not fall within the scope of the excessive fines clauses of the Constitution or the
Florida Constitution. See Austin, 509 U.S. at 622 n.14 (“[A] fine that serves purely remedial purposes
cannot be considered ‘excessive’ in any event.”); Busbee v. State, Div. of Ret., 685 So. 2d 914, 915
(Fla. 1st DCA 1996) (rejecting arguments premised on excessive fines clauses of the Constitution and
the Florida Constitution because forfeiture was “not a punishment”). Accordingly, Count III is
DISMISSED.
b) Procedural Due Process (Count IV)
Plaintiff alleges that the enforcement of the Collection Fee violates the Due Process Clause of
the United States’ Constitution and Section 9 of the Florida Constitution for essentially three reasons.
See Compl. ¶ 72. First, the Collection fee is automatically imposed on class members who “do not
know and could not reasonably know” that “Defendants are required to conduct collection services
before they can impose the fee.” See id. Second, Defendants did not provide adequate notice before the
remedial purpose, violates the excessive fines clauses of the Constitution or the Florida Constitution
because it allegedly results in a “windfall” to certain entities.
24
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fees were assessed. See id. Third, class members do not have an adequate opportunity to be heard on
the amount of the Collection Fee and could not have reasonably known they have any method to
dispute the imposition of the fee. See id. Defendants argue that the procedural due process claim fails
because Plaintiff and class members had adequate notice and an opportunity to be heard. The Court
agrees.
“A Section 1983 procedural due process claim requires a plaintiff to prove three elements: (1)
deprivation of a constitutionally-protected liberty or property interest; (2) state action; and (3)
constitutionally-inadequate process.” Catron v. City of St. Petersburg, 658 F.3d 1260, 1266 (11th Cir.
2011) (internal quotation marks omitted). Procedural due process requires that interested persons be
given “notice reasonably calculated, under all the circumstances, to apprise interested parties of the
pendency of the action and afford them an opportunity to present their objections.” Mesa Valderrama
v. United States, 417 F.3d 1189, 1196–97 (11th Cir. 2005) (citing Mullane v. Central Hanover Bank &
Trust Co., 339 U.S. 306, 314 (1950)). To “determine whether a constitutional violation has occurred, it
is necessary to ask what process the State provided, and whether it was constitutionally adequate.”
Zinermon v. Burch, 494 U.S. 113, 126 (1990). Moreover, “only when the state refuses to provide a
process sufficient to remedy the procedural deprivation does a constitutional violation actionable under
section 1983 arise.” McKinney v. Pate, 20 F.3d 1550, 1557 (11th Cir. 1994).
The Court rejects Plaintiff’s argument that class members were denied procedural due process
on the grounds they did not know (or could not have reasonably known) that “Defendants are required
to conduct collection services before they can impose the fee,” Compl. ¶ 72. As the Court already
found, Defendants are not required to conduct collection services before imposing the fee. See Section
III.B.1, supra. Thus, the allegation that class members were not aware (or could not have been aware)
of this incorrect legal conclusion cannot form the basis of procedural due process claim.

25
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The Court also rejects Plaintiff’s arguments that the Collection Fee was imposed without
adequate notice. As set forth in the Background section, supra, the Citation attached a pamphlet
containing a “Warning Notice,” which explained as follows: “Pursuant to F.S. 28.246(6), any fine and
cost that remain unpaid in excess of 90 days may be referred to a collection agency, and an additional
40% charge will be added to the amount owed.” See Pamphlet (ECF No. 33-3) at 4.25 Plaintiff,
therefore, cannot plausibly allege that there was inadequate notice of the Collection Fee before its
imposition. See Horn v. City of Chicago, 860 F. 2d 700, 705 (7th Cir. 1988) (delinquency notice
advising defendant of future actions city might take was sufficient to satisfy procedural due process).
Plaintiff’s argument that there was insufficient opportunity to be heard similarly fails. Courts
determine the adequacy of the process the government provides for a hearing by weighing the balance
of three factors: (1) “the private interest that will be affected by the official action”; (2) the risk of
erroneous deprivation of that interest through the procedure currently provided; and (3) the
government’s interest in pursuing this official action, “including the function involved and the fiscal
and administrative burdens that the additional or substitute procedural requirement would entail.”
Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 U.S. 319, 335 (1976).
In Wemhoff v. City of Baltimore, a case cited by Plaintiff, the court weighed a plaintiff’s
property interests implicated by late fees against the government’s interest in encouraging punctual
payment. 591 F. Supp. 2d 804, 810 (D. Md. 2008). The Wemhoff court found that late fees furthered
the government’s interests in ensuring full compliance with the law, which were fundamental to the
effective function of the city and were not outweighed by the plaintiff’s property interests. The Court
reaches the same conclusion here: the Collection Fee enables the Clerk to ensure compliance with the
law while protecting the public fisc from expenses incurred in collecting unpaid fees. Moreover,
25

The Court rejects Plaintiff’s argument that the Court may not consider these documents at the
motion to dismiss stage for the reasons set forth in footnote 3, supra.
26
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Plaintiff has not proffered any meritorious argument that Plaintiff was erroneously deprived of a
property interest.26 Additionally, Plaintiff does not cite any authority for the proposition that the
imposition of a collection fee on a properly noticed speeding ticket requires a separate notice and
opportunity to be heard. Cf. Rector v. City and Cty of Denver, 348 F.3d 935, 948 (10th Cir. 2003)
(finding that there was no due process violation despite the lack of a hearing when citation notice
clearly indicated late fee will be imposed if ticket is not paid in twenty days).
Finally, there is no allegation that Plaintiff contested the imposition of the collection fee at the
Traffic Court hearing or at any point prior to payment. See Stubbs v. City of Ctr. Point, Ala., 988 F.
Supp. 2d 1270, 1278 (N.D. Ala. 2013) (dismissing procedural due process claim and noting: “Ms.
Stubbs may have adequately alleged a deprivation—the payment of her fine—but does not allege that
the City failed to provide due process because she admits that she never sought to challenge the traffic
citation.”). Accordingly, Plaintiff has not shown that the State has “refuse[d] to provide a process
sufficient to remedy the procedural deprivation” and thus cannot show a “constitutional violation
actionable under section 1983.” See McKinney, 20 F.3d at 1557. For all of the above reasons, Count IV
is DISMISSED.
c) Substantive Due Process (Count V)
Plaintiff alleges that Defendants violated her (and the putative class members’) substantive due
process rights in two ways. First, Defendants have “acted unreasonably, arbitrarily and irrationally in
collecting and retaining a portion of this unearned and unlawful 40% collection fee which is unrelated”
to collection activity. Id. ¶ 76. Second, “Defendants have acted unreasonably, arbitrarily and

26

Additionally, Plaintiff does not cite any authority for the proposition the imposition of a collection
fee on a properly noticed speeding ticket requires a separate notice and opportunity to be heard. In fact,
the opposite is true. See Rector v. City and Cty of Denver, 348 F.3d 935, 948 (10th Cir. 2003) (finding
that there was no due process violation despite lack of hearing when citation notice clearly indicated
late fee will be imposed if ticket is not paid in twenty days).
27
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irrationally in seeking excessive penalties.” See Compl. ¶ 77. Defendants argue that the Complaint fails
to state a substantive due process claim. The Court agrees.
“The substantive component of the Due Process clause protects those rights that are
‘fundamental,’ that is, rights that are ‘implicit in the concept of ordered liberty.’” McKinney, 20 F.3d at
1556 (quoting Palko v. Connecticut, 302 U.S. 319, 325 (1937)).27 In other words, interests other than
“fundamental rights created by the Constitution” do not “enjoy substantive due process protection.” Shi
v. Montgomery, 679 F. App’x 828, 834 (11th Cir.), cert. denied sub nom. Xingzhong Shi v.
Montgomery, 138 S. Ct. 121 (2017); see also Regents of Univ. of Mich. v. Ewing, 106 U.S. 214, 229
(1985) (J. Powell, concurring) (“While property interests are protected by procedural due process even
though the interest is derived from state law rather than the Constitution, substantive due process rights
are created only by the Constitution.” (citations omitted)). Fundamental rights typically involve
“matters relating to marriage, family, procreation, and the right to bodily integrity.” Albright v. Oliver,
510 U.S. 266, 272 (1994).
Here, Plaintiff’s property interest in the monies she forwent in paying the Collection Fee does
not implicate a fundamental Constitutional right.28 See Abele v. Hernando Cnty., 161 Fed. App’x 809,
27

See also Hallett v. Ohio, No. 16-14969, 2017 WL 4511358, at *2 (11th Cir. Oct. 10, 2017) (“A
violation of procedural due process occurs where the state fails to provide due process in the
deprivation of a protected liberty interest. . . . On the other hand, a violation of substantive due process
occurs where an individual’s fundamental rights, those implicit in the concept of ordered liberty, are
infringed—no matter the fairness of the procedure.” (citations and internal quotation marks omitted)).
28

Plaintiff challenges the actions of the Defendants rather than the constitutionality of the Statute. See
Ruvin Opp. at 19 (“Plaintiff is not making a facial challenge to the validity or constitutionality of the
statute.”). Accordingly, the legislative act exception does not apply. Compare Greenbriar Vill., L.L.C.
v. Mountain Brook, City, 345 F.3d 1258, 1264 (11th Cir. 2003) (dismissing landowner’s substantive
due process claim when a city revoked his land disturbance permit because the claim did not implicate
a fundamental right) with Kentner, 750 F.3d at 1280 (“Because plaintiffs are challenging the Ordinance
on its face rather than contesting a specific zoning or permit decision made under the auspices of the
Ordinance, we conclude that they are challenging a legislative act . . . [and we] must go beyond the
fundamental rights inquiry . . . .”). However, even if the Complaint could be construed to challenge the
Statute, Plaintiff’s claim would still fail. See Latonik v. Florida Dep’t of Highway Safety & Motor
28
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815 (11th Cir. 2005) (“Property rights are state common law rights and are not equivalent to
fundamental rights.”). As a result, “a substantive due process claim does not exist in this case” because
“no interest protected by a fundamental right is being deprived.” Greenbriar Vill., L.L.C., 345 F.3d at
1264.29 Accordingly, Count V is DISMISSED.
5)

Declaratory Relief (Count VII)

Plaintiff seeks declaratory relief under Florida Statute Section 86.021 and other provisions of
Chapter 26. Specifically, Plaintiff seeks a declaration that Defendants’ assessing the Collection Fee
where no collection activity has occurred is unauthorized and unlawful. See Compl. ¶¶ 84–90. Based
on this premise, Plaintiff seeks a refund of all monies rendered in payment of the Collection Fee and an
injunction prohibiting Defendants from perpetuating this allegedly “unlawful act.” Id. ¶¶ 86, 90.
Because the Court has found that Defendants’ actions are authorized by law (Fla. Stat.
§ 28.246), see Section III.B.1, supra, Plaintiff’s claim for declaratory relief fails.30 Accordingly, Count
VII is DISMISSED.

Vehicles, No. 6:14-CV-1793-ORL, 2014 WL 7010737, at *4 (M.D. Fla. Dec. 11, 2014) (considering a
facial challenge to Florida Statute Section § 28.246, and dismissing substantive due process claim
because the Statute bears a “rational relationship” to the legitimate state purpose of recouping the costs
associated with crimes and their prosecution).
29

Plaintiff’s substantive due process allegation concerning “excessive penalties” fails for the additional
reason that it attempts to rest a substantive due process claim upon an alleged Eighth Amendment
excessive fines violation. See, e.g., Lee v. Sikes, 870 F. Supp. 1096, 1101 (S.D. Ga. 1994) (“[I]t is
improper in a §1983 action to rely on a substantive due process claim when a specific constitutional
standard governs plaintiff’s claimed right.”); see also TXO Production Corp. v. Alliance Resources
Corp., 509 U.S. 443, 471 (1993) (Scalia, J., concurring) (Recognizing a “substantive right not to be
subjected to excessive fines . . . would make the Excessive Fines Clause of the Eighth Amendment
superfluous in light of the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment.”).
30

The Court notes that Plaintiff has invoked the improper statute for declaratory relief. See, e.g.,
Wilshire Condo. Ass’n, Inc. v. QBE Ins. Corp., No. 10-23806-CIV, 2013 WL 12092532, at *3 (S.D.
Fla. Apr. 10, 2013) (“[A]s this is a diversity action in federal court, we cannot apply that statute to
determine whether or not a declaratory action can lie.”). However, regardless of whether the Court
applies the Florida declaratory relief statute, or its federal analogue (28 U.S.C. § 2201), the analysis is
not “materially different.” Id.
29
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IV.

CONCLUSION
For the foregoing reasons, it is hereby ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that
(1) Defendant Linebarger Goggan Blair & Sampson, LLP’s Motion to Dismiss (ECF No. 32)

is GRANTED;
(2) Defendant Harvey Ruvin’s Motion to Dismiss (ECF No. 33) is GRANTED;
(3) The Complaint is DISMISSED WITHOUT PREJUDICE;
(5) The Clerk of Court is instructed to CLOSE this case;
(6) All pending motions are DENIED AS MOOT.
2nd
DONE AND ORDERED in Chambers at Miami, Florida, this ____
day of January, 2018.

Kevin Michael Moore
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